THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUN 12 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case Nos. 2013-CP-02-02849 and 2013-CP-02-02850
Appellate Case No. 2015-002417

RECEIVED

JUN 29 2017

In Re: The Estate of James Brown a/k/a James Joseph Brown,

Tommie Rae Brown..... Respondent

SC SUPREME COURT

v.

David C. Sojourner, Jr., in his capacity as *Limited*
Special Administrator and Limited Special Trustee,
Deanna Brown-Thomas, Yamma Brown, Venisha Brown,
Larry Brown, Terry Brown and Daryl Brown Respondents below,

Of whom David C. Sojourner, Jr., in his capacity as

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DENYING APPELLANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN IT IS UNDISPUTED THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO TERMINATE HER FIRST MARRIAGE BEFORE ATTEMPTING HER SECOND MARRIAGE TO JAMES BROWN, RENDERING THE SECOND MARRIAGE BIGAMOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW UNDER SECTION 20-1-80 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CODE AND *LUKICH V. LUKICH*, 379 S.C. 589, 666 S.E.2D 906 (2008)?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DENYING APPELLANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN RESPONDENT'S ANNULMENT OF HER FIRST MARRIAGE DOES NOT RELATE BACK TO VALIDATE HER BIGAMOUS SECOND MARRIAGE UNDER SECTION 20-1-80 OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CODE AND *LUKICH V. LUKICH*, 379 S.C. 589, 666 S.E.2D 906 (2008)?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT FURTHER ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DENYING APPELLANTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THE RECORD CONTAINED ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENT'S FIRST MARRIAGE WAS NOT INVALID, AND RESPONDENT, WHO HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF AS TO THE ALLEGED INVALIDITY OF HER FIRST MARRIAGE, PRESENTED NO ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT HER ASSERTIONS?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT FURTHER ERR IN BASING ITS RULING ON THE FINDINGS OF FACT IN A FAMILY COURT ORDER ANNULING RESPONDENT'S FIRST MARRIAGE BY DEFAULT, WHICH FINDINGS WERE INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY, AND IN HOLDING THAT MR. BROWN AND APPELLANTS WERE COLLATERALLY ESTOPPED FROM CHALLENGING SUCH FINDINGS, WHEN THEY WERE NOT PARTIES TO RESPONDENT'S ANNULMENT ACTION NOR ALLOWED TO INTERVENE?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT PRIOR TO ALLOWING THE PARTIES TO PARTICIPATE IN DISCOVERY, WHEN HER MOTION IMPLICATED TRIABLE ISSUES OF DISPUTED FACT AND THE COURT HAD IMPROPERLY PROHIBITED APPELLANTS FROM TAKING DISCOVERY OF RESPONDENT OR USING HER DIARIES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The legendary music artist James Brown (“Decedent” or “Brown”) died on Christmas Day, December 25, 2006, in Atlanta, Georgia. His will devised his personal effects to six named children, including the Appellants, and the remainder of his considerable estate was left to an irrevocable trust (“Trust”), from which the bulk of his fortune was devised to The James Brown “I Feel Good” Trust to provide financial assistance for the education of disadvantaged youth.¹

Following Brown’s death, the respondent Tommie Rae Brown, a.k.a. Tommie Rae Hynie (“Respondent” or “Hynie”), brought an action in probate court to set aside Decedent’s entire will, which named neither her nor her son as beneficiaries. Her action to set aside the will was based upon alleged undue influence and fraud. She separately claimed an elective share or an omitted spouse’s share of the Brown Estate. The probate court transferred Hynie’s claims to the circuit court.

Seven years of cluttered litigation ensued. The trial court thereafter approved a Compromise Settlement Agreement that provided Hynie 23.75% of Brown’s entire estate, notwithstanding his testamentary wishes, but the settlement was sharply rejected by the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013), and the case was remanded to the trial court.

On October 1, 2013, the trial court appointed David C. Sojourner, Jr. to serve as Limited Special Trustee of the Trust specifically to defend the Estate and Trust against the will and trust challenges, and on October 10, 2013, the Probate Court

¹ See *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 449, 743 S.E.2d 746, 767 (2013) (containing a detailed description of the factual and procedural history).

appointed Mr. Sojourner as the Limited Special Administrator (hereinafter Mr. Sojourner is referred to in both capacities as the “LSA”).²

The present motions for summary judgment and orders on appeal arose as a result of the LSA’s motion to modify protective orders the trial court had issued in 2008 sealing Hynie’s handwritten diaries (“Diaries”). During a hearing on the LSA’s motion (“March 31, 2014 Hearing”), Hynie’s attorneys argued against producing the Diaries and sought a stay of all discovery pending a summary judgment motion they intended to file on the issue of whether Hynie is Brown’s “surviving spouse.”³ The trial court stayed *all* discovery and allowed Hynie to file her motion, but ruled if her motion turned upon any contested facts “the summary judgment goes out the window.”⁴

On April 28, 2014, Hynie filed her motion for partial summary judgment. On June 2, 2014, the LSA filed a motion for summary judgment, which was joined in by the Appellants, and limited to the question of whether Hynie is Decedent’s surviving spouse (“Appellants’ motion”).

On September 5, 2014, the parties filed a Joint Stipulation of Facts (with Exhibits) (“Joint Stipulation”) that sets forth all of the undisputed material facts applicable to the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment.

The trial court held a hearing on the motions on November 24, 2014, and on January 13, 2015, entered an order granting Hynie’s motion for summary judgment

² See R. p. 56, January 13, 2015 Order, at p. 4.

³ R. pp. 631-640, March 31, 2014 Hearing Transcript, 54:3-63:25, attached as Exhibit 1 to Memorandum of Law Supporting LSA’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Opposing Tommie Rae Brown’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the Issue of Surviving Spouse, filed October 6, 2014 (the “LSA’s Memo in Support”).

⁴ R. p. 637, *Id.* at 60:19-21.

(“MSJ Order”). The trial court ruled that Hynie’s 2001 marriage to husband #2 (Brown) was not bigamous because, in its view, Hynie’s 1997 marriage to husband #1 (Ahmed) was bigamous, based solely on the unsupported findings in a 2004 order annulling Hynie’s first marriage, obtained against Ahmed by default.⁵ The LSA and Appellants filed motions to reconsider on January 26, 2015.⁶ At the June 30, 2015 hearing on these motions, the trial court requested supplemental briefing on the application of *Lukich v. Lukich*, 379 S.C. 589, 666 S.E.2d 906 (2008), which the parties thereafter filed.⁷ On October 20, 2015, the court denied the motions to reconsider (“Order Denying Reconsideration”).⁸

Appellants duly filed their Notice of Appeal of the above orders (collectively, the “Orders”) on November 20, 2015.⁹

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Tommie Rae Hynie and Javed Ahmed (“Ahmed”), after applying for and securing a Texas marriage license, were legally married in Harris County, Texas on February 17, 1997 (the “Hynie/Ahmed Marriage”).¹⁰

Thereafter, on November 27, 2001, James Brown and Hynie executed a Prenuptial Agreement wherein Hynie acknowledged she was entering the agreement knowingly and voluntarily on the advice of counsel of her own choosing. *See Wilson v.*

⁵ R. pp. 69, 71 and 97, MSJ Order, at 17, 19, and 45.

⁶ R. pp. 825-883, LSA Motion to Reconsider; R. pp. 884-887, Brown Appellants’ Motion to Reconsider.

⁷ R. pp. 1049-1063, Memorandum of Limited Special Administrator on Issue of Application of *Lukich v. Lukich*.

⁸ R. pp. 103-121, Order Denying Reconsideration.

⁹ Brown Appellants’ Notice of Appeal.

¹⁰ R. pp. 265-266, Hynie/Ahmed Marriage License, Exhibit 1 to Joint Stipulation.

Dallas, 403 S.C. 411, 418, 743 S.E.2d 750, 762 (2013). Therein, Hynie “agreed to waive any claim for an interest in his estate in the event of his death, including the rights to a statutory share of Brown’s estate or to any interest as an omitted spouse.” *Id.*

On December 10, 2001 Brown and Hynie obtained a marriage license in Aiken County, South Carolina.¹¹ To obtain the license Hynie falsely swore under oath to the Aiken County Probate Court that this was her first marriage, concealing the Hynie/Ahmed Marriage from both Brown and the Probate Court.¹²

On December 14, 2001, Brown and Hynie participated in a marriage ceremony in Aiken County, South Carolina (the “Hynie/Brown Marriage”).¹³ Hynie now admits that her 1997 marriage to Ahmed was never dissolved prior to her attempted marriage to Brown in 2001.¹⁴

Two years later, on December 15, 2003, Hynie filed an action in the Charleston County Family Court (the “Family Court”) against Ahmed, alleging their marriage should be annulled (the “Hynie/Ahmed Annulment Action”).¹⁵ Ahmed was never personally served, but instead was purportedly served by publication.¹⁶ Because he never made an appearance in the Annulment Action, the only testimony presented to the Family Court was Respondent’s own self-serving testimony that Ahmed allegedly told her that he had three or more wives in Pakistan when they married.¹⁷ On April 15, 2004, the Family

¹¹ R. pp. 269-270, Joint Stipulation, Exhibit 4.

¹² *Id.*; see also S.C. Code Ann. § 20-1-230 (A)(4).

¹³ R. p. 256, Joint Stipulation, ¶ 5.

¹⁴ . p. 256, *Id.*, ¶ 6.

¹⁵ R. pp. 271-273, Joint Stipulation, Exhibit 5.

¹⁶ R. pp. 274-291, Joint Stipulation, Exhibits 6–10.

¹⁷ R. pp. 297-313, Joint Stipulation, Exhibit 13.

Court entered an order annulling the Hynie/Ahmed Marriage based solely on Hynie's testimony (the "Annulment Order").¹⁸

After discovering the 1997 Hynie/Ahmed Marriage, but prior to the Annulment Order, Brown brought his own annulment proceedings on January 29, 2004, in Aiken County, South Carolina, against Hynie for bigamy (the "Brown/Hynie Annulment Action").¹⁹ Hynie counterclaimed for a divorce from Brown. The parties settled and dismissed their respective suits in a consent order filed August 16, 2004 (the "Hynie/Brown Consent Order"), wherein Hynie expressly agreed even to "forever waive any claim of a common law marriage to [Brown], both now and in the future."²⁰

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 329, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 (2009). Thus, if a genuine issue of material fact exists, summary judgment is inappropriate and will be reversed on appeal. *Lanham v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of SC., Inc.*, 349 S.C. 356, 366, 563 S.E.2d 331, 335-36 (2002). The appellate courts review a grant of summary judgment *de novo*. *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owner's Ass'n, Inc. v. Builders Firstsource-Southeast Group*, 413 S.C. 630, 634-45, 776 S.E.2d 434, 437 (Ct. App. 2015).

On summary judgment, the evidence must be viewed, and all reasonable inferences must be drawn, in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Fleming*

¹⁸ R. pp. 293-296, *Id.*, Exhibit 12.

¹⁹ R. p. 258, *Id.*, ¶ 19.

²⁰ R. pp. 349-350, *Id.*, Exhibit 19.

v. *Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493–94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). However, where a party “makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the lower court is required under Rule 56, to grant summary judgment, if, under the facts presented by the [moving party], he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Humana Hosp.-Bayside v. Lightle*, 305 S.C. 214, 216, 407 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1991).

Although a denial of a motion for summary judgment ordinarily is not appealable, an appellate court “may, as a matter of discretion, consider an unappealable order along with an appealable issue where such a ruling will avoid unnecessary litigation.” *Morris v. Anderson Cty.*, 349 S.C. 607, 610, 564 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2002).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court’s Orders erroneously and inequitably permit Tommie Rae Hynie to loot the Estate of James Brown and to defy his charitable testamentary intent based upon an attempted marriage that was bigamous as a matter of law.

Hynie’s counsel conceded at the November 2014 summary judgment hearing that the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment can be decided based entirely upon the undisputed facts in the parties’ Joint Stipulation of Facts.²¹ Relevant to the questions before this Court, the parties stipulated to the following:

- On February 12, 1997, Hynie and Ahmed obtained a marriage license in Texas;
- On February 17, 1997, Hynie and Ahmed participated in a marriage ceremony in Texas;
- On December 14, 2001, Hynie and Decedent participated in a marriage ceremony in South Carolina;

²¹ R. pp. 2467-2469, Nov. 24, 2014 hearing transcript, 4:13–6:5.

- From February 17, 1997, to December 14, 2001, no court order was entered that ended the Hynie/Ahmed Marriage;
- On April 15, 2004, the Charleston County Family Court entered an order declaring the Hynie/Ahmed Marriage void based solely on Hynie's testimony, as Ahmed did not appear in the action;
- Hynie can identify no evidence (other than her own assertions) that Ahmed allegedly had other wives on February 17, 1997; and
- Decedent was not a named party in the Annulment Action nor was he able to intervene therein.²²

Family matters are often messy and rarely easy, but, thankfully, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified in *Lukich v. Lukich* that under the bigamy statute, section 20-1-80 of the South Carolina Code, a spouse's annulment of her first marriage *after* her attempted second marriage does *not* relate back to validate retroactively the bigamous second marriage. 379 S.C. 589, 592, 666 S.E.2d 906, 907 (2008). Simply stated, because Hynie's 1997 marriage to Ahmed had not been dissolved, she lacked the legal capacity to marry Brown in 2001. South Carolina law is clear that Hynie had a legal obligation, as well as a moral one, to resolve her prior marriage *before* she married again, and her annulment of this marriage years later cannot serve as a time machine to go back and resuscitate her illegal second marriage.

Even if the purported reason for Hynie's untimely annulment was somehow relevant (it is not), Hynie has consistently failed to present any admissible evidence whatsoever that her first marriage was bigamous (like her second marriage)—a burden of proof she alone must carry. Indeed, the only admissible evidence before the trial court was Ahmed's own sworn statement that he was *not* married to another. The trial court nonetheless held, contrary to well-settled law, that Appellants are precluded by the

²² R. pp. 255-258, Joint Stipulation, ¶¶ 2, 5, 6, 9 10, 12, and 18.

findings of fact in the hasty Annulment Order, even though neither Decedent nor Appellants were parties to that action, nor could they have intervened.

Finally, the trial court erred in granting Hynie summary judgment while barring Appellants from using her Diaries, holding depositions, or taking written discovery of Hynie. Whereas, the court could and should have ruled as a matter of law that the Hynie/Brown Marriage was bigamous, the converse is not true. There were obvious triable issues of fact precluding summary judgment in Hynie's favor.

ARGUMENT

I. HYNIE'S ATTEMPTED MARRIAGE TO BROWN WAS BIGAMOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW DUE TO HER FAILURE TO TERMINATE HER FIRST MARRIAGE PRIOR TO HER SECOND MARRIAGE.

A. The 2004 Annulment Order Did Not Retroactively Validate Hynie's Bigamous 2001 Marriage to Brown.

The trial court erred in failing to abide by the unambiguous holding of the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Lukich v. Lukich*, 379 S.C. 589, 666 S.E.2d 906 (2008) ("*Lukich*"), which strictly construed the bigamy statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 20-1-80. *Lukich* and Section 20-1-80 are dispositive of this appeal as a matter of law, in light of the parties' Joint Stipulation,²³ such that the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Hynie must be reversed and summary judgment entered in favor of the Appellants.

In *Lukich*, the Supreme Court was faced with a wife's first marriage that was annulled subsequent to her second marriage. The Court found that while the family court's annulment order rendered the first marriage void ab initio, this did not resurrect the bigamous second marriage. *Id.* at 592, 666 S.E.2d at 907. In a nutshell, *Lukich* bars the lower court's application of the 2004 Annulment Order to validate retroactively

²³ R. pp. 254-258, Joint Stipulation, at pp. 1-5.

Hynie's 2001 marriage to Brown, which was bigamous under Section 20-1-80. *Lukich* unequivocally holds that a subsequent order declaring a first marriage void *ab initio* does not relate back so as to validate a second bigamous marriage. *Id.* at 592–93, 666 S.E.2d at 907.

It is thus crystal-clear that Hynie's marriage to Brown was bigamous under the Supreme Court's analysis of Section 20-1-80:

Under the statute's terms, Wife's "marriage" to Husband #2 was "void" from the inception since *at* the time of that marriage she had a living spouse and that marriage had not been "declared void." . . . The statute speaks to *the status quo at the time the marriage was contracted, and does not contemplate* either a prospective or *a retroactive perspective*. Any other construction of §20-1-80 would lead to uncertainty and chaos.

Id. (emphasis added). *Lukich* did not equivocate or limit its holding to the reasons for an annulment order, and instead focused on that point in time when the wife attempted to contract her second marriage. *Id.* Because the wife, as here, failed to annul her first marriage prior to her second marriage, the Supreme Court found it to be bigamous under the statute *as a matter of law*. *Id.* The same is true in the instant case.

The Supreme Court's analysis comports with the general rule set forth in 52 Am. Jur. 2d *Marriage* §57, which is quoted by this Court in *Lukich v. Lukich*, 368 S.C. 47, 55, 627 S.E.2d 754, 758 (Ct. App. 2006):

[A]part from statute, bigamous marriage does not acquire validity when the prior subsisting marriage is legally terminated by divorce or by the death of the first spouse. The same rule is generally followed where the prior subsisting marriage is annulled after the second marriage is contracted, *even though the purpose of an annulment proceeding is to declare that no valid marriage ever took place between the parties or that no valid marriage relation ever existed between the parties. Even where the annulment decree expressly declares the first marriage null and void ab initio, it does not relate back so as to validate the second marriage.* In order for the subsequent marriage to be valid, it has been

held that there must be a new ceremony following the termination of the earlier marriage.

(Emphasis added.)

Lukich's insistence that one's first marriage be annulled by a competent court *before* attempting a second marriage is supported by the plain language of the bigamy statute:

All marriages contracted while either of the parties has a former wife or husband living shall be void. But this section shall not extend to a person whose husband or wife shall be absent for the space of five years, the one not knowing the other to be living during that time, not to any person who shall be divorced or whose first marriage shall be declared void by the sentence of a competent court.

S.C. Code Ann. § 20-1-80. The exceptions listed in the statute would be nonsensical if they applied to an indeterminate point in time *after* the second marriage. The first sentence unequivocally states the general rule that “[a]ll marriages” contracted while one has a living spouse are void. *Id.* The second sentence provides just three exceptions to the general rule. If a person has a spouse living when he contracts marriage to another, the second marriage is only valid if by that time: (1) the first spouse has been absent for five years and it is unknown if he/she is alive; (2) the first marriage was dissolved by divorce; or (3) the first marriage has been declared void by a court order. *Id.*

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