THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early III, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

JUN 22 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Case Nos. 2013-CP-02-02849, 2013-CP-02-02850

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002417

---

Tommie Rae Brown .....Respondent,

v.

David C. Sojourner, Jr., in his capacity as Limited Special Administrator of the Estate of James Brown, a/k/a James Joseph Brown and Limited Special Trustee of the James Brown Irrevocable Trust, u/a/d August 1, 2000, Deanna Brown-Thomas, Yamma Brown, Venisha Brown, Larry Brown, Terry Brown, and Daryl Brown, Respondents below,

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

Appellants want to dispute the validity of Mrs. Brown's marriage to Mr. Brown by attacking the valid unappealed family court order holding that Mrs. Brown had no impediment to her marriage to Mr. Brown. The family court held that Mrs. Brown was never married to Ahmed because of Ahmed's bigamy. However, the trial court, addressing a probate matter, has no subject matter jurisdiction to relitigate that family court order. Only the family court has exclusive subject matter jurisdiction over annulments; neither a probate court nor a circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction over annulments. Thus, the family court order stands.

Even if the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction to relitigate the Brown-Ahmed annulment, Appellants lack standing to do so. Mr. Brown lacked standing to do so. Any rights of Appellants are derivative from Mr. Brown, so they similarly lack standing to relitigate the Brown-Ahmed annulment.

After a quarrel with Mrs. Brown, Mr. Brown availed himself of the one method to invalidate his marriage to Mrs. Brown: he brought his own annulment action. However, he dismissed that action and never again sought to invalidate his marriage to Mrs. Brown. Consequently, Mr. Brown died knowing he was married to Mrs. Brown. Even if Appellants had standing to do what Mr. Brown chose not to do – invalidate his marriage to Mrs. Brown – it is too late. One cannot obtain a posthumous annulment.

Nevertheless, Appellants want to undo what Mr. Brown did.

The Limited Special Administrator (“LSA”) appeals, apparently, to protect Mr. Brown’s purported 2000 will and trust. The LSA does so despite the fact that the purported 2000 will and trust were executed before Mr. Brown’s marriage to Mrs. Brown and the birth of their son. The LSA is trying to protect a will and trust that are subject to claims of undue influence by the three discredited men<sup>4</sup> who controlled Mr. Brown while he was alive and who would benefit under those documents by being entitled to receive *fifty percent of the gross income, plus trustees’ fees*, from his assets instead of these monies going to charity. Perhaps most importantly, the LSA does so to protect a purported trust that was irrevocable and not only gave these three men the right to *fifty percent of the gross income from Mr. Brown’s trust assets while he was still alive*, but gave them *total discretion* to determine whether Mr. Brown would receive even one penny from those *assets while he was alive*. That Mr. Brown would willingly cede such total control over his assets while alive is incredible. The LSA ignores these obvious problems in a tunnel-visioned attempt to assert the dubious validity of the will and trust by attempting to undo what Mr. Brown wanted: his marriage to Mrs. Brown.

Failing to relitigate the validity of the family court order confirming that the putative Brown-Ahmed marriage was void *ab initio* for bigamy, Appellants attempt to pervert existing South Carolina statutory and case law by misinterpreting the opinions of this Court and the Supreme Court in the *Lukich* cases. Contrary to Appellants’ position, *Lukich* and every other South Carolina case, in accordance with the requirement of S.C.

---

<sup>4</sup> One of these men was found to have lied under oath to the court. Another is under house arrest for stealing from Mr. Brown. The other is deceased. See *Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 420, 743 S.E.2d 746, 751 n.2 (2013).

Code Ann. § 20-1-80, holds that a bigamous marriage is void *ab initio* and never a marriage. Consequently, the putative Brown-Ahmed marriage was never valid, and Mrs. Brown had no impediment to her marriage to Mr. Brown, which remained valid up to the time of his death.

As noted by the trial court's order, Appellants entered into a binding private settlement agreement in which they agreed that Mrs. Brown was the surviving spouse of Mr. Brown – a position they asserted before the South Carolina Supreme Court.<sup>5</sup> The agreement provided that the settlement was binding despite the lack of any court approval. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-912 recognizes the binding nature of such a private settlement agreement, even without court approval. Although the Supreme Court in *Wilson v. Dallas*<sup>6</sup> overturned the trial court's approval of the settlement agreement for lack of sufficient evidence, the opinion did not address the alternative issue of the binding private nature of the settlement agreement.

## **II. SURVIVING SPOUSE STATUS IS DETERMINED UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA PROBATE CODE.**

The issue before the court is whether Mrs. Brown is the surviving spouse of Mr. Brown. “Surviving spouse” is a defined term under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-802(a), which provides that:

An individual who is *divorced* from the decedent or whose marriage to the decedent has been *annulled* is not a surviving spouse unless, by virtue of a subsequent marriage, the individual is married to the decedent at the time of death. A decree of separate maintenance that does not terminate the status of husband and wife is not a divorce for purposes of this section.

---

<sup>5</sup> (ROA VOL. I, p. 18 at ¶ 3) (stating “Tommie Rae was the legal wife of James Brown, during his lifetime and at the time of his death, and qualifies as his surviving spouse.”).

<sup>6</sup> 403 S.C. 411, 420, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013).

(emphasis added).

Mr. and Mrs. Brown had a valid marriage license and certificate evidencing their ceremonial marriage. Thus, for Mrs. Brown not to be Mr. Brown's surviving spouse under section 62-2-802, it must be determined that Mr. and Mrs. Brown were either divorced or that their marriage was annulled by the time of his death. Mrs. Brown's status as the surviving spouse is determined as of the time of Mr. Brown's death. Mr. and Mrs. Brown were never divorced and their marriage was never annulled. Consequently, she is the surviving spouse as defined in the South Carolina Probate Code.

In order for a divorce or annulment to preclude someone from being the surviving spouse of a decedent, the South Carolina Probate Code requires a *signed order* of divorce or *annulment filed* with the clerk of court. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-802(c). Under South Carolina law, that signed order must be filed with the court before the decedent's death. *Hatchell-Freeman v. Freeman*, 340 S.C. 552, 532 S.E.2d 299 (Ct. App. 2000); *Bayne v. Bass*, 302 S.C. 208, 394 S.E.2d 726 (Ct. App. 1990); Roy T. Stuckey, *Marital Litigation in South Carolina* § 1.E (3d ed. 2006). There is no such thing as a postmortem annulment. *See generally id.*

Because Mrs. Brown presented a valid marriage certificate and court records prove that the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Brown was never terminated by divorce and never annulled, Mrs. Brown qualifies as Mr. Brown's surviving spouse.

*Wilson v. Dallas*, 403 S.C. 411, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013), did not rule on Mrs. Brown's status as surviving spouse. Instead, in concluding that the trial court lacked

evidence to determine that the settlement agreement was just and reasonable,<sup>7</sup> the Supreme Court suggested that there were two principal obstacles in the way of Mrs. Brown's spousal claims, neither of them being the issue before this Court, that she was not in fact the surviving spouse of Mr. Brown. First, as to Mrs. Brown's elective share claim, the Supreme Court assumed that Mrs. Brown executed a valid prenuptial agreement waiving all rights to Mr. Brown's property or any statutory claims against his estate, and observed that "[a] valid prenuptial agreement would normally preclude any right to an elective share." *Id.* at 440, 743 S.E.2d at 762. The Court seemed to presume that the alleged prenuptial agreement was valid even though that issue has not yet been determined. Second, as to Mrs. Brown's omitted spouse claim, the Supreme Court noted that Brown's testamentary documents state that he was specifically omitting any other beneficiaries or potential beneficiaries, including a future spouse or heirs, based on his desire to leave most of his estate to charity after providing for the education of his grandchildren. *Id.* at 441, 743 S.E.2d at 762. Similarly, his intent on that issue has yet to be determined in the trial court.

In short, were this Court to affirm the lower court, it gives Mrs. Brown nothing from the Estate. It only means she was, in fact, Mr. Brown's wife, which of course, is an extremely important ruling for her and her son. The issue of any waiver of the elective share is not a matter for this summary judgment, which addresses only the validity of the marriage with respect to Mrs. Brown's status as surviving spouse.

As to Mrs. Brown's status as surviving spouse, *Wilson v. Dallas* noted the

---

<sup>7</sup> The practical result of the *Wilson* decision was to deprive the charitable trust of the extremely valuable contribution of certain federal termination rights by Mrs. Brown and the Brown children, as the agreement had provided for, as well as to continue the extremely expensive estate litigation, at the ultimate expense of the charitable trust.

language in the trial court's order that the *Lukich* case supported the validity of Mrs. Brown's marriage to Mr. Brown. *Wilson v. Dallas* did not reverse that conclusion although the Supreme Court had the opportunity to do so.<sup>8</sup> Had the Supreme Court believed Mrs. Brown was not Mr. Brown's wife under *Lukich*, it could easily have said so. If the effect of *Lukich* was that Mrs. Brown was not Mr. Brown's wife, this would have been the most compelling point that the Supreme Court could have made to invalidate the settlement agreement. Apparently, the Supreme Court understood that, not only does *Lukich* not invalidate the marriage of Mrs. Brown and Mr. Brown, it confirms the validity of that marriage.

The resolution of the surviving spouse issue under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-802 is clear and simple. Consequently, Appellants have been forced to resort to two arguments about the validity of the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Brown, neither of which is correct. They attempt to attack the validity of the Brown-Ahmed annulment order, and they attempt to turn the *Lukich* decisions upside down.

### **III. APPELLANTS LACK SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND DERIVATIVE STANDING TO ATTACK THE FINAL ORDER OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA FAMILY COURT RULING THAT MRS. BROWN WAS NEVER MARRIED TO AHMED.**

Appellants attack the validity of the family court order obtained by Mrs. Brown in 2004 holding that, because her putative marriage to Javed Ahmed was bigamous, it was

---

<sup>8</sup> The opinion expressly declined to comment on the *Lukich* issue:

The circuit court noted the decision of the Court of Appeals in *Lukich v. Lukich*, 368 S.C. 47, 627 S.E.2d 754 (Ct. App. 2006), in which the Court of Appeals held that an annulment declaring a spouse's first marriage void could not retroactively validate the spouse's second marriage. The circuit court distinguished Brown's situation, opining that the rule in *Lukich* did not apply where the first marriage was never valid because one of the parties was already married. This Court has since affirmed *Lukich*, in *Lukich v. Lukich*, 379 S.C. 589, 666 S.E.2d 906 (2008). We express no opinion, however, on the circuit court's interpretation here.

403 S.C. at 434 n.16.

void *ab initio*. Despite the fact that Mr. Brown declined to seek an annulment after dismissing his family court action, Appellants would like the trial court to re-try the Brown-Ahmed annulment case and presumably reach a different conclusion so they can argue that Mrs. Brown had an impediment to her marriage to Mr. Brown. That, of course, is not possible for a number of reasons.

#### **A. Only the Family Court Has Subject Matter Jurisdiction over Annulments**

The trial court has no subject matter jurisdiction to relitigate that family court order. Only the family court has jurisdiction over annulments. S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-530(A)(6). This has been the law in South Carolina for a very long time. *See, e.g., White v. White*, 283 S.C. 348, 323 S.E.2d 521 (1984); *Splawn v. Splawn*, 311 S.C. 423, 429 S.E.2d 805 (1993); *Rodman v. Rodman*, 361 S.C. 291, 604 S.E.2d 399 (Ct. App. 2004) (*Rodman* and *Splawn* affirm that equitable apportionment can occur after annulment, but that is authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-620(A), which allows property division in “other marital litigation” which would certainly include annulments.). Neither the probate court nor the circuit court has jurisdiction over annulments.<sup>9</sup>

The Final Judgment annulling Mrs. Brown's marriage to Ahmed was rendered in the Family Court. (ROA VOL. I, p. 257 at ¶ 11, pp. 293-6)

"The family court has exclusive jurisdiction . . . to hear and determine actions for

---

<sup>9</sup> The spousal claims in this case were removed from the probate court to the circuit court. Thus, the trial court could properly rule, as it did, on summary judgment that Mrs. Brown is the surviving spouse under the South Carolina Probate Code, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-802, because the Brown-Brown marriage was not annulled or terminated by divorce, and the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to otherwise contradict the validity of the Brown-Brown marriage or the Brown-Ahmed annulment. *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-302(c) (giving the probate court concurrent jurisdiction only to *interpret* marital agreements — *not decide the validity of the marriage* — because the interpretation of a marital agreement, such as a prenuptial agreement or a postnuptial agreement, may impact rights in an estate. That section also gives the probate court concurrent jurisdiction to hear issues related to common law marriage, but that issue is not relevant here because Mrs. Brown relies on her ceremonial marriage.)

the annulment of marriage." S.C. Code Ann. § 63-3-530(A)(6). Because the jurisdiction of the family court is exclusive, the court of common pleas has no jurisdiction over annulments. The trial court agreed. "To allow [Appellants] to challenge Mrs. Brown's annulment from Ahmed in this court would subvert the exclusive authority granted to the family court by the South Carolina General Assembly." (ROA VOL. I, p. 76) "[T]he General Assembly prohibited all other courts from going behind the family court's annulment orders." (ROA VOL. I, p. 76)

Thus, for purposes of determining surviving spouse status for this probate case, the trial court has to assume the validity of the annulment order because the trial court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. Appellants have not been able to explain the trail back to the family court to relitigate the Brown-Ahmed annulment because there is none. Only Mrs. Brown and Ahmed could have done so, and neither did.

#### **B. Appellants Lack Derivative Standing to Contest the Family Court Order**

Even if subject matter jurisdiction did not preclude the circuit court from relitigating the Brown-Ahmed annulment, Appellants lack standing to do so.<sup>10</sup> Mr. Brown himself certainly could not do so. As noted in this Court's decision in *Lukich v. Lukich*, 368 S.C. 47, 51, 627 S.E.2d 754, 756 (Ct. App. 2006), *aff'd*, 379 S.C. 589, 666 S.E.2d 906 (2008), Mr. Brown would not have had standing to intervene in the Brown-Ahmed annulment case. Any rights Appellants have are derivative from Mr. Brown and can certainly be no greater than the rights he had while alive.<sup>11</sup> In any event, Mr. Brown

---

<sup>10</sup> In addition to Appellants lack of subject matter jurisdiction to challenge the family court's order, there are several other reasons Appellants are bound by the annulment order. See *infra* Parts III.B, V, VI, IX.

<sup>11</sup> Heirs are generally in privity with their ancestors. *Thompson v. Hudgens*, 159 S.E. 807, 812 (S.C. 1931). Consequently, heirs are barred from asserting claims that their ancestors would have been barred from

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